
Please ask for Democratic Services: Telephone (01362) 656870 
 

 

 
AGENDA 

 

NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information only 

 
 
 

Committee - LICENSING PANEL 

Date & Time - Thursday, 18th August, 2022 at 2.00 pm 

Venue - The Breckland Conference Centre, Anglia 
Room, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, 
Dereham, NR19 1EE 

 
 

 

Members of the Committee requiring 
further information, or with specific 
questions, are asked to raise these 

with the appropriate officer at least two 
working days before the meeting.  If 

the information requested is available, 
this will be provided, and reported to 

Committee. 

 
 
 

Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn off mobile 

telephones 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THIS MEETING WILL BE STREAMED LIVE VIA THE LINK BELOW AND WILL BE ACTIVATED AT 
THE START OF THE MEETING 

 
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/Streaming-of-committee-meetings 

 
 
 
 

Democratic Services  
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, 
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE 
 
Date: Monday, 15 August 2022 

 

Members:  
  
Cllr Marion Chapman-Allen (Chairman) 
Cllr Tristan Ashby 
 

Cllr Tina Kiddell 
Cllr Philip Morton (Substitute Member) 
 

Public Document Pack

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/Streaming-of-committee-meetings


Licensing Panel 
Thursday, 18th August, 2022 

 

 

PART A- ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC 

 

 Page(s) 
herewith 

1. APOLOGIES   

 To receive apologies for absence.   
 

 

2. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS   

 The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire 
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has 
a disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 
2011.  Members are also required to withdraw from the meeting room as 
stated in the Standing Orders of this Council. 
 

 

3. PROCEDURES  3 

4. CONSIDERATION OF AN OBJECTION TO A TEMPORARY EVENT 
NOTICE  

4 - 17 



LICENSING PANEL PROCEDURES FOR OBJECTIONS TO TENs APPLICATIONS 

1. Chairman introduces Officers and explains procedure to parties present. 
 

2. Presentation by the Senior Licensing Officer outlining details of the temporary event notice, 
the ‘relevant person’ (i.e. Police ) objection notice and reasons for the hearing.  
 

3. Questions to the Licensing Officer by members. 
 

4. Presentation by the Police representative. 
 
5. The Police calls any witnesses. 

 
6. Questions to the Police representative and their witnesses by the members and the 

premises-user. 
 

7. Presentation by the premises-user or their advocate. 
 

8. The premises-user or their advocate calls any witnesses.  
 

9. Questions to the premises-user and/or their advocate, and witnesses if applicable, by 
members and the Police representative. 
 

10. The Police representative gives a closing address to the Panel. 
 

11. The premises-user and/or their advocate give a closing address to the Panel.  
 

12. Members retire from the hearing to consider the matter.  
 

All parties called back into the meeting for the announcement of the decision and reasons for the 

decision will be given by the Panel Chairman or Legal Adviser to the Panel. The decision notice, 

counter notice and any statement of conditions (if applicable) will follow in writing. 

3

Agenda Item 3



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Report of:  Sarah Shipley – Assistant Director Health & Housing 
 
To: Licensing Panel – 18th August 2022 
 
Author: Josie Hoven – Senior Licensing Officer 
 
Subject:  Consideration of an objection to a Temporary Event Notice  
 
Purpose: To consider an objection to a Temporary Event Notice for Club ICE, 36-37 

Riverside Walk, Thetford, Norfolk, IP24 2BB for 21st August 2022. 
 

 
Recommendation(s):   
 
That the Panel considers the objection from the Police to the Temporary Event Notice for Club 
Ice, having regard to the Council’s Licensing Act Policy, the Licensing Act 2003, Section 182 
guidance of the same and the four licensing objectives.  

 

 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 The Council received a Temporary Event Notification (TEN) for Club ICE, 36-37 Riverside 

Walk, Thetford, IP24 2BB on 5th August 2022. The TEN gives notice of a proposed 
extension to the licensable hours until 04:00 on 21st August 2022 for the sale of alcohol 
and provision of regulated entertainment for a Portuguese Party Night for a maximum 225 
people. Copy of the TEN (redacted) attached as Appendix A. 
 

1.2 The current premises licence PL0419, allows for sale of alcohol and provision of regulated 
entertainment until 03:00 (Saturday into) Sunday morning.  

 
1.3 Whilst the premises holds a premises licence to authorise their activities, the Act also 

provides a light-touch mechanism for special, infrequent events (including the extension of 
hours), known as a Temporary Event Notice (TEN) 

 
1.4 An individual (known as the “premises user”) may give notice of a proposal to use 

premises for a temporary event, engaging in one or more of the licensable activities for a 
period of no more than 168 consecutive hours. The number of TEN’s allowed for 2022 is 
20 TENs (with an aggregate not exceeding 26 days over the 20 TENs). 

 
1.5 The statutory consultation requirement has been complied with. The premises user is 

required to submit a copy of the TEN to the Council (and when submitting electronically, 
as in this case, the Council must forward a copy to both the Police and Environmental 
Health). The TEN was received by the Council via email on 5th August 2022 and 
forwarded to the Police and Environmental Health on 6th August 2022. The Police 
responded with their objection on 10th August 2022. No objection has been received from 
the Environmental Health team. 
 

1.6 The Licensing Panel is required to consider any objection notice received. The Police 
have issued an objection notice to this notification. Copy (redacted) attached as Appendix 
B. 
 

1.7 The Police have objected on the grounds that the licensing objective “The prevention of 
crime and disorder” will not be met. 

4

Agenda Item 4



 
1.8 The Police objection has been forwarded to the premises user and the licence holder. All 

parties have been invited to attend this meeting. 
 

 
 
2.0 OPTIONS 
 
2.1 The Panel may: 

 

 Under Section 105 - if they agree that the licensing objective(s) may be 
undermined, issue a Counter Notice (the TEN is deemed refused) 

 Under Section 106a - Add conditions by Counter Notice to the TEN 

 Allow the TEN to remain - no Counter Notice to the TEN (the event goes ahead as 
notified). 

 
 

 
3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 

When carrying out its licensing functions, the Panel shall act with regard to the Council’s 
Licensing Policy, the Licensing Act 2003, the Statutory Guidance (Section 182) and with a 
view to promoting the four licensing objectives. The objectives are: 

 

 The prevention of crime and disorder 

 Public safety 

 The prevention of public nuisance 

 The protection of children from harm  
 

The Licensing Panel must ensure that each case is decided on its own merits. 
 

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 
4.1 Legislative compliance and a lawful decision.  
 
5.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
 In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
 decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
 Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 
 Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 
 Management;  Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Other. 
 Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more of 
 these headings, these are identified below. 
 
5.1  Constitution & Legal 

The procedure for preparing for and holding a hearing are set out in the Licensing Act 2003. 
   
 
 
5.2       Crime and Disorder  
5.2.1 The Prevention of Crime and Disorder is one of the four licensing objectives being taken 

into consideration by the Licensing Panel.  
 

5



5.3  Equality and Diversity / Human Rights 
5.3.1 Article 6 Human Rights – The Panel must ensure a fair hearing 
 
 
6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
 
6.1 Club Ice is in Thetford Castle Ward 
 
7.0 ACRONYMS  
 
7.1  TEN – Temporary Event Notice 
 
 

Background papers:- Licensing Act 2003 - 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/contents 

 Breckland Council Licensing Policy - 
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/1131/Licensing-
Policy/pdf/Breckland-Licensing-Act-Policy-
20201.pdf?m=637879665499730000 

 Section 182 Guidance - 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/
uploads/attachment_data/file/705588/Revised_guidance_issued_und
er_section_182_of_the_Licensing_Act_2003__April_2018_.pdf 

 

 
Lead Contact Officer 
Name and Post:  Josie Hoven – Senior Licensing Officer 
Telephone Number: 01362 656870 
Email: licensingteam@breckland.gov.uk 
 
Key Decision:  No  
 
Exempt Decision: No  
 
This report refers to a Mandatory Service) 
 
Appendices attached to this report:  
Appendix A Redacted copy of TEN 
Appendix B Redacted copy of Police Objection 

6

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/contents
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/1131/Licensing-Policy/pdf/Breckland-Licensing-Act-Policy-20201.pdf?m=637879665499730000
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/1131/Licensing-Policy/pdf/Breckland-Licensing-Act-Policy-20201.pdf?m=637879665499730000
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/1131/Licensing-Policy/pdf/Breckland-Licensing-Act-Policy-20201.pdf?m=637879665499730000
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/705588/Revised_guidance_issued_under_section_182_of_the_Licensing_Act_2003__April_2018_.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/705588/Revised_guidance_issued_under_section_182_of_the_Licensing_Act_2003__April_2018_.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/705588/Revised_guidance_issued_under_section_182_of_the_Licensing_Act_2003__April_2018_.pdf


7



8



9



10



06/08/2022

Paul Bugeja

11



 

 

Norfolk Constabulary 

 
Licensing Team 

Bethel Street Police Station 

Bethel Street  

Norwich  

NR2 1NN 

Tel:   

Fax:  

Email:  

 
www.norfolk.police.uk 

Non-Emergency Tel: 101 

 

 

10/08/2022 
 
Dear Licensing Manager, 
 
Please accept this letter as an objection to the Temporary Event Notification at Ice 
Nightclub, Riverside Walk, Thetford on 20th August 2022. 
 
Police object on the grounds that the event will fail to promote the crime and disorder 
licensing objective. 
 
I will have a complete document prepared, and shared with relevant parties, in time for a 
hearing but to satisfy the time restriction please accept this letter as an objection to the 
notification from Police. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 

 
Licensing Officer, 
Norfolk Police. 
 
 
 
 
CC:-Applicant Tina Carpenter 
        Licensing Review Team 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Licensing Manager, 
Breckland Council, 
Elizabeth House, 
Walpole Loke, 
Dereham, 
Norfolk, 
NR19 1EE 

12



 

 

Norfolk Constabulary 

 
Licensing Team 

Bethel Street Police Station 

Bethel Street  

Norwich  

NR2 1NN 

Tel:   

Fax:  

Email:  

 
www.norfolk.police.uk 

Non-Emergency Tel: 101 

 

 

Dear  
 
This letter is to outline recent observations by police and to bring to your attention noise and 
nuisance complaints received from residents. 
Some of these problems appear linked to the extension of hours for Portuguese Party nights. 
On 7th May there was disorder at the end of the night. There was a reported fight inside the 
premises with two counts of assault recorded. Patrons were ejected and a vehicle at the rear of the 
premises damaged. 
On 4th June in the early hours there was a disturbance at the door when staff refused entry to a 
group of males. 
At the end of the night, officers observed there was no door supervisor wearing hi vis and assisting 
with dispersal of patrons (as per annex 2 condition 27 on the premises licence) 
On 2nd July police reported two counts of ABH at the premises and disorder in the precinct after 
closing. There were no door supervisors in hi-vis jackets assisting with dispersal of patrons.  
A report was made to police of drugs misuse at the premises 
Breckland District Council received noise complaints from a nearby sheltered housing complex.  
We have discussed these events before and some have passed without incident. You describe 
attendees as a friendly group who cause few problems for staff. Last weekend saw the second 
bout of disorder in Thetford after one of these nights.  
 
Police have other recent reports of assaults and disorder linked to the premises: - 
14th May- a male was arrested leaving the premises. He assaulted a female with a bottle, 
threatened door staff with a bottle and assaulted the arresting officers 
On 21st May a female was assaulted by another patron as she left the premises 
 
The purpose of this letter is to formally inform you of the apparent emerging problem and give you 
a chance to respond or put measures in place. There are two more events coming up on 16th July 
and 26th August. 
 
Please give a call on the usual number to discuss the content of this letter. 
 
Best wishes, 

 
Licensing Officer, Norfolk Police 
 
CC Breckland DC 
      Licensing Review Team, Norfolk Police 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  
C/O Ice Night Club, 
35-37 Riverside Walk,  
Thetford, 
Norfolk, 
IP24 2BB 
 
 
08/07/2022 

13



 

 

Norfolk Constabulary 

 
Licensing Team 

Bethel Street Police Station 

Bethel Street  

Norwich  

NR2 1NN 

Tel:   

Fax:  

Email:  

 
www.norfolk.police.uk 

Non-Emergency Tel: 101 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Licensing Manager, 
Breckland Council, 
Elizabeth House, 
Walpole Loke, 
Dereham, 
Norfolk, 
NR19 1EE 
 
 
 
 
 
16/08/2022 
 
Dear Licensing Manager, 
 
Norfolk Police object to the Temporary Event Notice for ICE Nightclub, Riverside Walk, 
Thetford for the 20th of August 2022. This TEN is requesting an extension of licensable 
activities including the sale of alcohol, until 4am which we believe is at risk of undermining 
the licensing objectives, specifically the prevention of crime and disorder.  
 
Police can evidence several incidents where violence has occurred in the terminal hour, at 
about 3am and where intoxication levels are a significant factor. We know previous TENs 
have resulted in disorder and violence at the premises and on dispersal. Police therefore 
assert, the allowing of this TEN has potential to result in a violent incident occurring due to 
the increased period for alcohol consumption.   
 
Police Licensing were already aware of a pattern of disorder and violent incidents at this 
premises and as a result, the management were written to on the 8th of July 2022. A copy 
of this letter has been submitted for the Licensing Committee, requesting for additional 
measures in place to address these concerns.  
 
Police assert that to allow for further extensions of hours when there are already concerns 
for the safety of patrons would not be appropriate.   
  
Please find a timeline to support the police objection. 
 
29th-30th April  
There was disorder at ICE following closure of premises at 0315hrs. A group of 30 
intoxicated people gathered with some goading police. There was only one arrest as it was 
felt there were insufficient police numbers to safely detain more, for Threatening Behaviour 
and Assault Police 0338hrs 30.04.2022 
 

14



 

 

6th-7th May 
Prior to closure at 0306hrs for Portuguese community event. Female presented with a cut 
hand allegedly sustained from an incident that occurred inside the premises. CCTV was 
not available to be viewed in live time to assist the police initial investigation of the 
incident. 
 
Affray – 0245- 0305hrs investigation ongoing with 4 persons recorded as suspects and a 
complaint from one being the female sustaining a cut hand  
 
Assault ABH 0330hrs – 0340hrs 07.05.2022 Inside ICE, the victim was assaulted by the 
suspect inside the venue.  
Criminal damage 0350hrs 07.05.2022 group of 3 males caused damage to car in King 
Street car park (behind ICE) throwing bottles at it. One suspect was named during the 
earlier affray and forensically linked to the vehicle damage. He admitted the offence during 
interview. 
 
Police reports from 7th May  
 
During a routine public order visit, police have seen several patrons of the club exit and 
congregate outside, and then re-enter, without being scanned/checked on re-entry this 
poses a risk whereby those leaving and re-entering who could be passed weapons/items 
and then re-enter without being checked. This has been witnessed by officers. 
 
During a public order visit by police, they have been invited inside the premises by door 
staff. Once inside police have been met with verbal resistance to a walkthrough by the club 
owner , who has tried to deny entry to police to conduct a walkthrough, stating 
police need to be granted permission/invited in to do this. The walkthrough was completed 
after explanation. 
 
A male has become heavily intoxicated inside ice nightclub and has had to be forcibly 
removed by door staff. Male has then been detained outside by police. The male was 
drunk and had to be escorted home by officers. 
 
Saturday 14th May 
Common Assault and 2x Assault on Police at 2210hrs 14.05.2022 outside ICE male 
approached doorman armed with a bottle and threatened him – he was detained by police 
after a scuffle. 
 
Assault GBH with intent 0319hrs 14.05.2022 Victim exited ICE at closing time and was hit 
over the head with a glass bottle causing 2cm cut to the head 
 
Saturday 2nd July 
Portuguese night 0400hrs extension 
Section 20 unlawful wounding 0255hrs 02.08.2022 Suspect hit victim to face in ICE 
nightclub causing a lump to forehead, a bloodied nose and cut to the top of lip 
 
Section 20 unlawful wounding 0302hrs 02.08.2022 The victim was punched to the head 
knocking him unconscious 
  
CAD NC02072022 refers to the above whereby door staff report a large fight inside that 
was moving outside, asking for emergency assistance with the Portuguese group fighting 
 
Police reports from 2nd July 

15



 

 

 
Fight in the club, resulting in two counts of ABH. Door staff were evasive as to whether the 
suspects were inside the club and unwilling to assist police in identifying them. No 
assistance was given to police dealing with the injured parties outside the club who were 
agitated and wanted to fight the suspects still inside. It appeared that due to the late 
closing at 0400 people remained in the town centre resulting in disorder. Door staff did not 
assist in dispersing their clientele who were obstructive to police. They did not wear any 
high vis clothing and failed to assist in dispersal. 
 
Male was offered cocaine in the toilets of the nightclub on 02/07/2022 
 
A male was offered cocaine in the toilets of ice nightclub. He did not take any and does not 
know who the person was. Can only describe him as not English. 
 
A plain clothes initiative (Operation Beverage) visiting late night licensed premises across 
Breckland District was held over the weekend. Reports were compiled after each venue 
visit. The following observations were recorded after a visit to ICE Nightclub on Saturday 
14/08/20222 between 0019-0219. 
 
Positive aspects: 
On entry to ICE, door staff scanned ID’s and took a photo which they explained was in the 
interests of staff and customer safety. 
Door staff stationed at fixed points on the premises, two at the entrance (one scanning ID, 
one managing access to ICE), one just inside main door, one by the dance floor and all 
were attentive to what was happening inside the premises. 
At 0045 hours, door staff challenged customers trying to exit the club with drinks. This was 
noticed and challenged immediately by the door staff. 
Patron observed drinking from a glass bottle in the smoking area initially missed by door 
staff however, this was quickly noticed by door staff monitoring this area and challenged. 
 
Negative aspects: 
No bag checks were conducted at the door, lots of people carrying bags in the premises. 
There was a heavily intoxicated male that was so unsteady on his feet that he was trying 
to hold the wall to steady himself, he was not ejected from premises by staff. 
Bar staff were trying to encourage patrons to purchase doubles instead of singles or more 
drinks rather than those you were trying to order.  
There were no toilet checks observed throughout attendance. 
 
 
It is the opinion of Police that these observations and records justify concerns that the 
venue is at risk of failing to promote the crime and disorder licensing objective when the 
hours are extended; and highlights the concerns relating to intoxication and violence. It is 
felt that an extension of hours would not be appropriate as this would give customers 
longer to consume alcohol, become agitated and ultimately violent towards one another, 
door staff and police. 
 
Norfolk Police request that the Licensing Committee carefully consider the Temporary 
Event Notice and whether they are confident that this can be accepted without 
compromising the safety of patrons and staff at the premises.  
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 

 Licensing Officer, Norfolk Police 

16



 

 

CC Licensing Review Team, Norfolk Police 
        
 

17


	Agenda
	3 Procedures
	4 Consideration of an objection to a Temporary Event Notice
	Appendix A - Copy of redacted TEN
	TEN CARPENTER
	TEN CARPENTER
	TEN CARPENTER
	TEN CARPENTER
	TEN CARPENTER
	TEN CARPENTER

	Appendix B - Copy of Redacted Police Objection Event Notice
	REDACTED ICE TENs disorder letter
	REDACTED-ICE-TEN-document


